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The National Rural Health Alliance 
(the Alliance) is Australia’s peak 
non-government organisation for 
rural and remote health. Our vision 
is good health and wellbeing in rural 
and remote Australia.

Thanks to the commitment of our Member Bodies and 
the consistent support of the Australian Department 
of Health, the Alliance is now a mature, confident 
and respected voice for the more than 6.7 million 
people of rural and remote Australia. 

Fundamental to the work of the Alliance is the belief 
that, wherever they live, everyone in Australia should 
have the opportunity for healthy, safe and productive 
lives. This should include equivalent health status and 
fair access to high-quality, appropriate and affordable 
health services.

The rural and remote communities of Australia offer a 
quality of life unmatched anywhere else in the world. 
Furthermore, the people living in those communities 
report higher levels of life satisfaction than are 
reported by their metropolitan cousins. 

However, when measured by reference to average 
objective data, the people of rural and remote 
Australia are deprived, relative to city people, in terms 
of quality of life, health status and access to services. 
On average, they have lower incomes, fewer years of 
completed education, a greater proportion of them are 
living with a disability, and they are exposed to greater 
health risk factors. 

Many of the smaller settlements of rural and remote 
Australia offer a stronger sense of community than 
is commonly found in major cities. This should be 
recognised and celebrated, but never used as a reason 
to cease efforts to provide essential services locally in 
rural and remote areas wherever and whenever it can 
reasonably be done.

Fair access to services - and the better quality of 
life that will result - can be achieved by accepting 
and working around the realities of more remote 
areas, including distance, sparse populations, poorly 
developed infrastructure and higher prices for many 
goods and services. Fair access is attainable; but some 
of the services deemed essential for a good quality of 
life are unlikely to be available in small communities. 

The Alliance now has 37 Member Bodies. 
Every one of the 37 is a national rural or remote 
organisation, including those that are rural/remote 
interest groups of national bodies. This means there 
is a large mass of rural and remote lived experience in 
the Alliance, and therefore a strong authenticity to its 
views and understanding.

The National Rural Health Alliance Inc.
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The Member Bodies represent rural and remote 
consumers and citizens, health service providers, 
and professional bodies. Three of its members are 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations.

Council of the Alliance is comprised of 
one representative from each member 
body, the Chair of friends of the Alliance 
and up to three co-opted individuals. 

With such a broad representative base, the 
Alliance is in a unique position to represent 
the views of country people and to report 
regularly on both the benefits and challenges 
of life in rural and remote areas of Australia.

The four goals of the Alliance’s strategic plan for 
2013-16 are outlined in more detail in the Core 
Business section of this report. In summary form 
they are: 

1.  to collect, interpret and distribute evidence about 
rural and remote health and wellbeing;

2.  by using that evidence, to advocate for improved 
rural/remote wellbeing;

3.  to work collaboratively towards those goals with 
governments, other bodies and individuals; and

4.  to sustain the organisation.

A wide range of information about the Alliance 
and its work is available on the website at  
ruralhealth.org.au

The National Rural Health Alliance Inc.
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Our members 

The 37 Member Bodies of the National Rural Health Alliance (at July 2015) were:

ACEM (RRRC) Australasian College for Emergency Medicine (Rural, Regional and Remote Committee)

ACHSM Australasian College of Health Service Management

ACM (RRAC) Australian College of Midwives (Rural and Remote Advisory Committee)

ACN (RNMCI) Australian College of Nursing (Rural Nursing and Midwifery Community of Interest)

ACRRM Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine

AGPN Australian General Practice Network

AHHA Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association

AHPARR Allied Health Professions Australia Rural and Remote

AIDA Australian Indigenous Doctors’ Association

ANMF Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation (rural members)

APA (RMN) Australian Physiotherapy Association (Rural Member Network)

APS Australian Paediatric Society

APS (RRPIG) Australian Psychological Society (Rural and Remote Psychology Interest Group) 

ARHEN Australian Rural Health Education Network Limited

CAA (RRG) Council of Ambulance Authorities (Rural and Remote Group)

CRANAplus CRANAplus – the professional body for all remote health 

CWAA Country Women’s Association of Australia

ESSA (RRIG) Exercise and Sports Science Australia (Rural and Remote Interest Group)

FRAME Federation of Rural Australian Medical Educators

FS Frontier Services of the Uniting Church in Australia

HCRRA Health Consumers of Rural and Remote Australia

IAHA Indigenous Allied Health Australia

ICPA Isolated Children’s Parents’ Association 

NACCHO National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation 

NRF of RACGP National Rural Faculty of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 

NRHSN National Rural Health Students’ Network

PA (RRSIG) Paramedics Australasia (Rural and Remote Special Interest Group)

PSA (RSIG) Pharmaceutical Society of Australia (Rural Special Interest Group)

RDAA Rural Doctors Association of Australia

RDN of ADA Rural Dentists’ Network of the Australian Dental Association

RFDS Royal Flying Doctor Service

RHWA Rural Health Workforce Australia

RIHG of CAA Rural Indigenous and Health-interest Group of the Chiropractors’ Association of Australia

ROG of OA Rural Optometry Group of Optometry Australia

RPA Rural Pharmacists Australia

SARRAH Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health

SPA (RRMC) Speech Pathology Australia (Rural and Remote Member Community)
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It has been a pleasure and a privilege 
to serve the people of rural and remote 
Australia as Chairperson of the National 
Rural Health Alliance for a second year.

The 2014-15 year was bookended by two of our 
regular and most significant bursts of policy activity. 
In September, Council met face-to-face in Canberra 
at CouncilFest 2014; and in May we hosted the 13th 
National Rural Health Conference in Darwin. Both 
of these events resulted in priority recommendations, 
with considerable overlap between the two sets. What 
this means is that there is a considerable amount of 
consistency in the priority challenges with which the 
Alliance is faced. 

The policy priorities from CouncilFest 2014 related 
to the transition from Medicare Locals to Primary 
Health Networks; improved internet connectivity 
for rural and remote areas through a ‘last mile’ 
solution; preserving the critical role played by regional 
universities in the educational/employment pipeline 
for rural communities; strong implementation of the 
National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health 
Plan; and Commonwealth investment in State and 
Territory public dental services.

Having had its positions clarified and strengthened 
at CouncilFest, the Alliance maintained its advocacy 
work throughout the year. This report details 15 
submissions to government inquiries, covering 
everything from taxation to workforce, from family 
and domestic violence to the development of 
northern Australia, and from the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme to after-hours care. As ever there 
was a significant number of media releases and an 
increasingly effective use of social media.

We collaborated with three other bodies to hold the 
4th biennial Rural and Remote Health Scientific 
Symposium in September. This resulted in a number 
of practical suggestions for ensuring better ‘knowledge 
transfer’ for rural/remote health research, as well as 
valuable inter-agency networking.

By working closely with rural communities, 
researchers can come up with practical evidence for 
what works and what doesn’t when it comes to health 
care improvement in challenging locations. And from 
our work on the social determinants we know it’s not 
all about health; it’s also about housing, education, 
jobs, community leadership - and much more.

The consistency with which certain policy challenges 
find their way to the top of the agenda reminds us that 
there is still much to be done. The perennial issues 
include broadband and connectivity, mental health 
and oral health, workforce issues, and active attention 
to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health.

The National Rural Health Conference in Darwin 
towards the end of the financial year again brought 
these issues to the fore. Its priority proposals also 
included the call for a Senate Inquiry into food 
security for remote communities; a proposal for a 
National Rural Health Workforce Strategy; and the 
need for further action to improve the health of 
children in rural areas, the eye health of Indigenous 
people, and access to Medicare-funded services in 
more remote areas.

For the first time, the biennial Conference hosted 
sessions with an international focus. The aim was 
to help foster better collaboration between health 
leaders in Australia and countries in our region. 
Despite the differences between our countries, 
health workers in the region have much in common; 
apart from anything else, they all work in resource-

Chairperson’s Report
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constrained environments. As a result, they are often 
the people with the most innovative solutions to 
longstanding problems. 

As at previous National Rural Health Conferences, 
the arts and health program was an outstanding 
success. It was able to showcase the vibrant, 
multicultural arts scene of Darwin and the 
Northern Territory.

With its celebration of connection and belonging 
and, above all, its affirmation of rural and remote 
community spirit, the Conference helps all those who 
attend it to undertake their work with renewed vigour. 
The Alliance stands ready to continue to work with 
them to advocate for better health and wellbeing for 
rural and remote Australians. 

Using the core support the Alliance will continue 
to provide the Australian Government - as well as 
all other interested parties - with advice about the 
impact of its policies and of other factors on the 
wellbeing of those who live in rural and remote 
areas. During this financial year that work included 
significant reference to contested matters in the 
2014 Federal Budget, such as the proposed Medicare 
co-payment. In all such work, the Alliance’s purpose 
is to ensure that the particular characteristics of rural 
areas and of the health needs of people who live in 
them are recognised and accommodated in ongoing 
policy debates.

There has been significant additional activity this 
year in relation to the governance of the Alliance. 
The organisation has been particularly well served by 
its Treasurer, Nicole O’Reilly, and by her colleagues 
on the Finance and Audit Advisory Committee. It is 
a pleasure to acknowledge and thank them for their 
particular contributions, as well as all other members 
of the Board and Council. (They are listed and 
pictured on pages 30-32.) 

Towards the end of the year it became apparent that 
the immediate future would pose some particular 
financial and organisational challenges for the 
Alliance. These were spelt out and discussed in a 
second face-to-face meeting of the Board. Members 
of the Board are confident that the organisation is 
well-managed and in other ways properly equipped 
to meet these challenges. However we need always 
to be alert and to ensure that our governance systems 
and processes can manage risk and strategy in the best 
interest of the organisation.

I would again like to thank Gordon Gregory and the 
team in the office in Canberra. This year the team 
lost a couple of experienced staff to retirement and 
three others to maternity leave. It is impressive to 
know that, despite this churn (which, incidentally, 
characterises many health services in more remote 
areas), the organisation has continued to be well-
served by its Secretariat. 

With the help of people in all corners of the country, 
as well as those who work with us from Australia’s 
CBDs and regional centres, we can continue to 
provide governments and others with the intelligence 
they need to care appropriately for country people.

Tim Kelly 
Chair

Chairperson’s Report

Dr Tim Kelly has been a procedural rural GP in South Australia’s 
Mid North, and is now the Chief Executive Officer at Adelaide to Outback 
GP Training Program. He still undertakes rural GP Obstetric locum work 
when possible. Tim is interested in evolving models of primary care and 
innovative delivery of training to support rural and remote clinicians.



10

The NRHA is concerned largely with 
national policies that impact on health and 
wellbeing. Its work in the financial year 
2014-15 was therefore heavily influenced 
by the agenda for the second year of the 
Abbott Government. We had the benefit of a 
good working relationship with Fiona Nash, 
Assistant Health Minister, and in December 
2014 Sussan Ley - another rural woman - 
was appointed Minister for Health. There 
is no lack of understanding in the Ministry 
of the issues on which we are working!

The submissions we made to enquiries are listed 
elsewhere in this Yearbook. The more doleful of 
them included those about the abolition of agencies 
in the sector, the proposed Medicare co-payment, 
and out-of-pocket costs. We gave evidence to public 
hearings on those matters. And we were involved 
with planning for the transition from Medicare 
Locals to Primary Health Networks (PHNs). The 
boundaries of the PHNs were announced - and caused 
some consternation about how local engagement 
could be effective in areas covering the whole of 
WA, the whole of South Australia and all of the 
Northern Territory.

We began planning for a small number of knowledge 
transfer meetings about one of the issues with which 
the PHNs will need to grapple: the provision of 
Continuing Professional Development.

Climate change was in the air, with the Alliance - to 
the great disappointment of some - playing no more 
than an interested bystander’s role. On smoking rates 
we were much more active, noting the importance of 
knowing more about why rates remain higher in non-
metropolitan areas.

We became involved with proposed deregulation 
in the higher education system. Speaking of which, 
almost unnoticed, JCU graduated its first physician 
assistants. 

The report on skin cancer from the Standing 
Committee on Health drew quite heavily on the 
submission from the Alliance and proposed a number 
of recommendations for action that we will promote.

Mental health remained a top policy priority for many 
people and agencies, including the Alliance. In the 
lead-up to the end of the financial year, mental health 
services became one of the focal points of increasing 
uncertainty about future funding. It was estimated 
that 40% of mental health services lost staff due to 
that uncertainty. Despite the media attention, the 
uncertainty persisted. Thankfully in March Sussan 
Ley announced a 12-month extension of funding for a 
number of unsecured mental health services. It is to be 
hoped that such a level of uncertainty will be avoided 
in the future.

Our contracts with the Department of Health for 
management of RAMUS and RHCE2 were extended 
to 30 June 2016 and mid-January 2016 respectively. 
We continued to manage the Australian Journal 
of Rural Health with great support from Wiley, 
our publisher. 

This is a very wide remit for the Alliance’s endeavours. 
At its heart is the need to maintain balance between 
promoting the benefits and returns from life in remote 
and rural Australia, and emphasising its deficits and 
unmet challenges.

Throughout the year various other agencies published 
findings that helped with the latter. NATSEM 
reported that the Federal Government’s austerity drive 
would hit poorer families hardest. ACOSS revealed 
that 2.5 million people in Australia were living in 
poverty. The Heart Foundation produced a CVD 
prevalence map - in glorious colour - showing that 

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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people in rural and remote areas have a 26 per cent 
greater risk of heart disease. The rural-urban disparities 
in rates of survival from cancer were highlighted in 
the AJRH. Our friends at the Australian Institute of 
Health and Welfare reported that there were some 
improvements in Indigenous life expectancy, but that 
a 10-year gap remains. And the drought in large parts 
of Queensland and NSW was acknowledged by the 
Prime Minister and his Government.

The Federal Government’s response to all of 
this evidence of continuing rural challenges was 
constrained by the belief that the nation has a 
serious problem with its budget balance. Perceptions 
of the budget situation are shaped by the scope of 
the view taken. In the absence of changes to the 
taxation system (including its concessions), improved 
education and productivity, and regional and industry 
development there is indeed a fiscal problem.

Health was hit just as hard by the drive for savings as 
any sector, despite the AIHW reporting that health 
expenditure was at record low levels and that members 
of the public were paying nearly 18 per cent of health 
costs out of their own pockets.

Following its debut in the area the previous year, the 
Alliance became more heavily involved with planning 
for the introduction of the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme in rural and remote areas, where 
some trials were already underway. In July 2014 
the Alliance held a forum on this matter in Mt Isa, 
helping to chart the way forward for disability care in 
more remote areas.

In late July, Australia’s rural health sector lost Erica 
Bell, one of its leaders and a good friend of many, 
including the NRHA. Erica will be remembered 
fondly. Two months later the nation lost Tony 
McMichael, another impressive voice on so much of 
importance to rural wellbeing.

Planning and managing the biennial National Rural 
Health Conference is a huge task. It was a high 
priority in the Alliance’s work for most of the financial 
year, making demands on all staff. Before we could 
focus on that, however, was the 4th Rural and Remote 
Health Scientific Symposium in the first week of 
September.

CouncilFest 2014 in September succeeded in 
obtaining all-Party support. And that was just to 
get in to Parliament House! The security blitz was 
not caused by our delegations but certainly affected 
them. The Alliance Executive elected at the AGM 
that week saw Tim Kelly re-elected as Chairperson. 
The diligence of the Board that Tim chaired is 
demonstrated by the fact that, to ensure the very best 
practice in risk management, succession planning and 
financial security, the Board met face-to-face five times 
in the period covered by this report.

In August we began formal collaboration with 
Children’s Healthcare Australasia on a conference on 
rural children’s health to be held in Alice Springs in 
2016, and with ACRRM on a conference to be held 
in Cairns in 2017. Make sure you watch these spaces.

We owe a debt of gratitude to Melissa Sweet for her 
leadership on health communications and for always 
understanding rural matters.

Helen Hopkins retired, leaving an enormous hole in 
all aspects of our capacity; I owe a great deal to Helen 
and will always be grateful. Several others on staff 
developed good reasons for temporary leave, with 
Millie following closely on the heels of Lesley and 
Audrey. Millie - now boyed up - and Lesley - pigeon-
paired - are coming back, but Audrey has flown back 
to Ireland with her new bundle of treasure.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report The CEO now has an iPad.



12

As a result of so much good news, Alejandra, Maddy, 
Josie, Damien and Alice joined us in the first half of 
the year, and Stephen, Jenny and Anne-marie in the 
second. Almost as soon as she had finished working 
with our new best friends at Barkly Regional Arts on 
a very successful Anti-Poverty Week event, Alice left 
for an even more political job than the one she had 
with us. The shanties after lunch have not been the 
same since.

We also had (very welcome) squatters for three 
months. The RFDS’s Martin and Lauren used our 
office as a staging post between Sydney and their new 
corporate home in Canberra. We enjoyed getting to 
know them and their ways better; and Peter, ever-
patient, hot-desked for a while with no complaint. 

We welcomed and inducted new Councillors, 
including Christine Tully, Karen Harvey, Matthew 
Simpson, Felix Ho, John Dennehy, Helen Conlin 
and Mark Diamond. One of the older-stagers was 
PSA Pharmacist of the Year; congratulations to 
Lindy Swain.

My thanks to our Board and Council, and all of my 
colleagues on staff for another good year. They are 
listed and pictured in this Yearbook. If you observe 
closely you might see how they are greying and 
wrinkling in the pursuit of better health and wellbeing 
for those who live in non-metropolitan areas of 
Australia. These are prices we are willing to pay 
for such a worthy cause!

 

Gordon Gregory 
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer’s Report (cont’d)
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Knowledge

Goal One: 
Improve knowledge and understanding 
of matters relating to health and 
wellbeing in rural and remote areas.

Progress towards this goal is measured by 
reference to the timeliness, volume and reach 
of the Alliance’s communication materials, 
and by perceptions of the value, currency 
and accuracy of those materials. 

Two-way information exchange on a daily basis 
and collaboration with Member bodies and other 
stakeholders lie at the heart of the Alliance’s 
activities to build knowledge and awareness of 
emerging issues that affect rural health, including 
its social determinants. 

Information about current and emerging issues 
relevant to rural and remote health was sent in daily 
emails to representatives of Member Bodies. This 
information and discussion about it informed the 
media releases, news items, reports and policy papers 
produced by the Alliance. Monthly summaries of 
current work and of emerging issues helped members 
of Council to stay informed and assisted their 
reporting to the Member Bodies they represent.

The Alliance website, a key component of its public 
communication toolkit, was updated at least weekly 
with articles and news items on emerging issues 
relevant to rural and remote health. Through the 
website we reached a wide range of national and 
international networks, with 73,492 visits made by 
48,422 individual users. Ninety per cent of visits 
to the website were made from within Australia. 
The activity with our key subsidiary websites was 
similarly strong, with the 13th National Rural 
Health Conference website attracting 27,830 visitors 
by 14,975 unique users and the RAMUS website 
attracting 21,735 visits by 13,536 users. 

The website was enhanced through the addition of 
short video messages designed to share information 
with stakeholders. These received positive comment 

and Facebook usage statistics indicate that 
several hundred people view each video post with 
viewers ‘sharing’ and ‘liking’ them within their 
social networks.

Electronic and hard copy publications play an 
important role in extending knowledge among 
stakeholder groups about key issues in rural and 
remote health. The BushWire (previously eNews), 
the Alliance’s monthly electronic newsletter, was 
circulated to more than 6,770 recipients each month. 
Our eForum, the Alliance’s collection of articles and 
links on rural and remote health from other sources, 
was sent fortnightly to around 1,700 subscribers. 
Comments and input to news stories in The BushWire 
and on policy issues are encouraged through the 
website and these help to ensure the accuracy and 
currency of views adopted by the organisation.

The Alliance’s flagship magazine, Partyline, was 
published and distributed in August and November 
2014 and in April 2015, with the April edition 
achieving a hard copy and/or electronic circulation 
of more than 15,000.

The Australian Journal of Rural Health (AJRH) was 
published in six issues. Peer reviewed research articles 
published in AJRH contribute to the evidence base 
for policy development and play a significant role in 
the education of the future rural and remote health 
workforce. During 2014 AJRH was available in 4,585 
institutions worldwide and was used extensively 
online, with over 158,000 full text downloads of its 
contents, of which 72 per cent were in Australia. 
Reflecting the strong current trend to online usage, 
by the end of 2014, 972 individuals (+2.2%) were 
registered to receive automatic alerts of new content 
as it appears online. AJRH had an impact factor of 
1.225 in 2014.

In September 2014 the Alliance managed the 4th 
Rural and Remote Health Scientific Symposium in 
collaboration with the Primary Health Care Research 
& Information Service (PHCRIS), Australian 
Primary Health Care Research Institute (APHCRI) 
and the Australian Rural Health Education Network 
(ARHEN). The 2014 Symposium provided a valuable 
opportunity to build better relationships between 
national data holders, rural and remote health service 
providers and researchers.
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The Symposium resulted in a number of take-home 
messages for rural and remote health researchers.

•	 At the outset, seek advice from health system 
managers who are likely to be interested in the 
research results.

•	 Seek early advice about your intentions from 
data managers and ‘data custodians’ with special 
expertise in order to be clearer about what relevant 
data is available and how it may be used.

•	 Shaping the research question according to the 
priorities of consumers in the topic area, and 
with appreciation of the needs of health service 
managers, will significantly increase the chances 
of support for the work.

•	 Make sure you do not make special requests of data 
agencies for information which is already publicly 
available. (You need to know your way around the 
information system.)

•	 As you begin the research, be aware of the value 
of having an action plan for implementation 
of the research results and an evaluation of the 
research effort.

•	 Depending on the purpose, you may well need 
to consider using non-traditional means for 
communicating research results, including 
through mainstream and social media.

The 13th biennial National Rural Health Conference 
was held in Darwin, 24-27 May 2015. It is the most 
important national meeting for the multi-disciplinary 
rural and remote health sector and the Alliance’s 
largest single project. The Conference attracted over 
1,100 delegates from all parts of Australia - Indigenous 
and non-Indigenous consumers, health service 
managers, health professionals, arts performers, the 
media, researchers and students.

Guided by the Conference Advisory Committee, 
which met monthly by teleconference, the Conference 

had a strong focus on the social determinants of health 
and a dedicated arts and health program. It provided 
an opportunity to exchange information, showcase 
success stories, promote the sector’s agenda and make 
useful professional connections. Many delegates 
travelled thousands of kilometres to attend (including 
from nearby countries in the region) and brought their 
experiences and perspectives to the task of improving 
the health and wellbeing of people in rural and remote 
locations. 

The Alliance maintains the Conference website as an 
ongoing service to the sector. It includes the official 
proceedings of the Conference, which include full 
papers, speaker bios, and links to video presentations of 
all keynote addresses and of many concurrent sessions.

Feedback from delegates indicated high levels of 
satisfaction with the Conference program, with over 
eighty per cent of respondents reporting it was highly 
informative and relevant. Nearly all delegates reported 
that they gained a greater awareness of rural health issues, 
took the opportunity to network, and improved their 
understanding of contemporary rural and remote health 
workforce issues. Seventy-five per cent of responders 
believed the Conference provided value for money.

The Alliance is working closely with Children’s 
Healthcare Australasia to jointly host a Conference 
on rural children’s health – Caring for Country Kids - 
to be held in Alice Springs in 2016.

We are also working with the Australian College 
of Rural and Remote Medicine (ACRRM), one of 
our member bodies, on an exciting joint event to 
be held in Cairns in 2017. It will comprise the 14th 
National Rural Health Conference and the 14th Rural 
International WONCA Conference, run end-on-end 
with a shared day in-between. This will be a unique 
opportunity to bring together rural and remote health 
leaders from around the world and to do a stocktake 
of the relative situation in which our rural and remote 
health sector finds itself at the time. 

Media liaison remained a key avenue for knowledge 
sharing activity, with 67 media releases issued and 96 
news stories posted on the website. In the lead-up to the 
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13th National Rural Health Conference, direct contact 
was made with 232 journalists and editors. Seventy-
two media items relating to the Conference have been 
collected and stored on the Conference media webpage. 
This media coverage resulted in greater awareness of 
rural health and Indigenous health issues through both 
metropolitan and regional outlets.

Social media has also become an important element of 
the Alliance’s work to share knowledge and encourage 
discussion of issues affecting rural and remote health. 
In June 2015, the Alliance had 5,711 followers on 
Twitter. The Alliance Facebook page has shown rapid 
growth and now lists 3,508 ‘likes’. 

The Alliance is conscious of the importance of the 
social determinants of health and gives due weight to 
them in all of its policy work. Reflecting their high 
priority in the policy work of the Alliance, there is a 
page dedicated to the social determinants of health 
on the Alliance website. This is the second most 
visited page on our website, and includes links to 
relevant submissions, stakeholders and events. The 
Alliance maintained its membership of the Social 
Determinants of Health Alliance.

The Alliance published 21 policy documents during 
2014–2015. These included 15 submissions to 
Parliamentary Committees, five policy development 
papers and a briefing paper on Medicare reform. 
The submissions to government inquiries covered a 
wide range of topics including family and domestic 
violence; reform of the tax system; the NDIS; road 
safety; residential care for disabled youth; income 
inequality; after hours service delivery; developing 
northern Australia; the pricing framework for 
Australian public hospitals; national accreditation 
for health professionals; preventive health and the 
abolition of Health Workforce Australia. The Alliance 
also prepared a series of policy proposals aimed at 
improving mental health outcomes in rural and remote 
areas. Data were presented to demonstrate that people 
outside the cities currently experience greater socio-
economic disadvantage and higher rates of mental 
illness than city people. (A full list of submissions to 
government inquiries is included as an Appendix.)

Knowledge building has included regular assessment of 
Australian Institute for Health and Welfare (AIHW) 
reports. Staff of the Alliance met regularly with AIHW 
staff to consult about rural data content and/or analysis 
and passed on the results of those consultations to 

members of the Alliance Council. There are increasing 
signs of the value placed on the Alliance’s contributions 
in these areas by the national agencies responsible for 
health-related data sets. To help inform national health 
policy development, in its submissions the Alliance 
includes evidence from its own analysis of key data sets 
available on the AIHW website.

The Alliance’s Fact Sheets webpage is the most 
frequently visited on our website, with over 8,300 
unique visitors. New or updated Fact Sheets published 
during the year included: arthritis, hearing loss and 
oncology massage for rural and remote Australia; a 
rural mental health help sheet and two infographics: 
Spot your community and Mental health in rural and 
remote Australia.

Mental Health
In RuRal & Remote austRalIa

20%

About 20% of Australians had 
a mental health problem in the 
past 12 months. Rates do not 
vary much across the country. 

60%
BUT

Rural  
per capita Medicare 

expenditure  
on mental health is

of what it is in 
major cities

SUicide RATeS: RURAl & ReMoTe vS MAjoR ciTieS

66% higher
The rate of suicide is

in the country than 
in major cities

The rate of suicide among  
men aged 15-29 who live 
outside

is twice as high
major cities

to die by suicide than the 
general employed public

Farmers 2x
more likely

The rate of suicide among 
young Aboriginal and 

Torres Straight islander  
people (aged 15-24)

5x than that for  
non-indigenous 
people

higher

Get all the facts at
www.ruralhealth.org.au/factsheets
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Advocacy

GOAL TWO: 
Strengthen our advocacy for people who 
live in rural and remote communities.

Performance towards this goal is measured 
by reference to the satisfaction of the Member 
Bodies with the quality of advocacy, the number 
of other organisations and individuals involved 
with the Alliance’s policy work, and the extent 
to which proposed ideas are taken up by those 
in a position to act on them.

Rural and remote people themselves are best placed 
to understand issues relating to their health and their 
access to health services - and to generate and manage 
solutions. The Alliance listens to their views and 
amplifies their voices.

Members of Council represent the 37 member bodies 
of the Alliance and provide informed advice across 
all areas of health and wellbeing in rural and remote 
communities. Our processes ensure that Council 
determines the topic and content of submissions and 
position papers throughout the year. 

CouncilFest 2014 provided an important opportunity 
for member body representatives to direct policy 
development and to present the views of people in 
rural and remote communities with whom they live 
and work. In addition, Council members undertook 
the annual visit to Parliament House to meet 
Members and Senators and to advocate an agreed 
agenda of health issues. The top priorities agreed 
concerned rural and remote aspects of:

•	 the transition from Medicare Locals to Primary 
Health Networks;

•	 internet access in the bush – including a ‘last 
mile’ program to enhance access to broadband and 
telephony (fixed and mobile);

•	 the deregulation of university fees;

•	 the operational plan which is to be the basis of 
action on the agreed National Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Health Strategy; and

•	 government commitments to additional resources 
for public dental health services.

While in Parliament House, there were formal 
meetings for full Council with the Assistant Minister 
for Health, Senator Nash, and the Shadow Minister 
for Health, Catherine King. There were also meetings 
involving smaller groups of Council members with 
the Minister of Health, Sussan Ley, and with a broad 
range of individual government, opposition and 
independent politicians. Minister Nash and Shadow 
Minister Jones both attended and addressed the 
Conference in Darwin.

During CouncilFest, senior executives from the 
Department of Health and the Department of the 
Prime Minister and Cabinet led an information 
exchange session with Council of the Alliance, 
outlining current directions in health policy and 
program delivery. Councillors presented some of their 
concerns and priorities for rural health outcomes, 
and highlighted key policy and advocacy issues for 
the Departments’ consideration. A separate session 
involved staff of the National Disability Insurance 
Agency and the full NRHA Council, highlighting 
rural and remote aspects of the proposed rollout of the 
NDIS, including feedback from existing trial sites.

At various other times the Alliance maintained close 
contact with the Department of Health through 
meetings, formal and informal, with various of its 
officers. The Alliance was represented at breakfast 
roundtable meetings with the Department’s Secretary. 
The Department provided expert speakers on national 
health workforce and Medicare Benefits Schedule 
data for the 4th Rural and Remote Health Scientific 
Symposium in September.

We also work in close partnership with the 
Department of Health in our role as manager of the 
Rural Australia Medical Undergraduate Scholarship 
(RAMUS) Scheme and Stream 2 of the Rural Health 
Continuing Education (RHCE2) program.

Alliance staff also met with representatives of other 
key government agencies. In one such meeting, the 
Alliance’s Policy Adviser, Andrew Phillips, conducted 
an inter-agency seminar for staff of the Australian 
Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) and the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) on emerging 
data analysis identifying the linkages between 
geographical place and health – with a focus on 
how the social determinants of places where people 
live, work and age impact on health outcomes. 
Meetings were also conducted with the National 
Disability Insurance Agency (NDIA), Department of 
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Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) and the National 
Health Performance Authority (NHPA) to provide 
information and advice on rural and remote health 
impacts of certain government policies and programs.

Council’s advocacy role is strengthened by the 
recommendations process of the biennial National 
Rural Health Conferences. The 13th Conference in 
May 2015 proposed over 300 recommendations for 
improving the health of people in rural and remote 
Australia. Ten priority recommendations eventually 
emerged, all of them tangible suggestions as to how 
governments – both federal and state – can improve 
rural and remote health. Among them was a call 
for a Senate Inquiry into food security for remote 
communities; the development of a digital inclusion 
strategy for remote Australia; a proposal for a National 
Rural Health Workforce Strategy; and the urgent call 
for a funded Implementation Plan for the National 
Aboriginal Health Strategy. Others included calls for 
further action to improve the health of children in 
rural areas; on the eye health of Indigenous people; 
and to expand access to Medicare-funded services in 
rural and remote Australia. 

The Alliance’s website has an important role to play 
in dissemination and exchange of information. Its 
Advocacy section and the Publications section both 
encourage people in rural and remote communities 
to have their say in the work of the Alliance. 
When finalised, Alliance submissions and position 
papers are posted on the website to make public the 
positions adopted. Details of 15 submissions made 
to government inquiries are listed in an Appendix. 
In addition, five policy development papers were 
published. They dealt with Medicare rebates for 
psychology services via telehealth; mental health first 
aid for rural financial counsellors; e-Mental health for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people; Primary 
Health Networks; and a Rural and Remote Bulletin 
for the NDIS. 

Following representation to the 2014 Senate Inquiry 
into out-of-pocket-costs, the Alliance collaborated 
with the Australian Association of Social Workers 
(AASW), Australian Council of Social Service 
(ACOSS), Australian Health Care Reform Alliance 
(AHCRA) and Consumers Health Forum of Australia 
to produce a Briefing paper on the future of Medicare 
in February 2015. This paper provides an overview 
of the reforms being proposed by the Government 
and information for discussion with parliamentarians 

and government agencies on the Alliance’s views on 
the importance of maintaining universal healthcare 
through Medicare, as well as the dangers a co-payment 
presents to this foundation principle of Australia’s 
healthcare system.

Each monthly issue of The Bushwire carried requests 
for input from our rural networks on one or more 
issues of current interest. Topics included in The 
Bushwire included Working together on palliative 
care and the opinion piece by Alliance Chair, Tim 
Kelly, on Growing your own health workforce (July); 
Transition from Medicare Locals to Primary Health 
Networks (October); Arthritis – a real pain in rural 
Australia (November); the Croakey CouncilFest 
Series (December); Medicare co-payment and Helping 
to Close the Gap through cultural change (March); 
and Interesting times in eHealth (June). 

Partyline continued to be one of the means by which 
we inform people of some of the good news stories 
from the rural and remote health sector, as well as 
the ongoing challenges. The topics included health 
reforms in regional WA; dental and oral health; 
combating obesity; integrated pain management; 
Royal Far West Children’s health service; arts and 
health; breast cancer; palliative care; emergency 
care training in the Wide Bay Burnett area; driving 
injuries on country roads; Royal Flying Doctor 
Service; Apunipima Cape York Health Council; 
and the Australian Indigenous alcohol and other 
drugs Knowledge Centre. All issues of Partyline were 
published on the website as well as in hard copy.

Spokespersons for the Alliance gave numerous 
radio interviews, received coverage in a number of 
online and hard copy publications, and participated 
on panels and delivered presentations at a range 
of stakeholder events during the reporting period. 
Presentations included those to the National Primary 
and Community Health Network, to staff of the 
NDIS, to the Rural Medicine Australia conference, 
and to the Centre of Research Excellence in Rural 
and Remote Primary Health Care. The Alliance 
participated in Mental Health Australia’s (MHA) 
advocacy day in February.

Additional advocacy on behalf of rural and remote 
Australians was carried out through the Alliance’s 
membership in over 20 organisations listed in the 
Appendix that are involved with various aspects of 
rural health and wellbeing.
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Our staff appeared before the Senate Committee 
Inquiry into ANPHA (Abolition) Bill 2014 and the 
HWA (Abolition) Bill 2014, and via teleconference 
before the Senate Committee Inquiry into Out-of-
pocket costs, highlighting the impacts such measures 
would have on the health of rural and remote 
Australians. Staff members represented the Alliance 
at a number of external meetings including the Are 
you remotely interested? conference organised by the 
Mount Isa Centre for Rural and Remote Health, 
the Primary Health Care Research Conference, a 
Social Determinants of Health Forum, the APHCRI 
Knowledge Exchange Workshop and Indigenous 
Allied Health Australia’s National Forum. There were 
other meetings with the Australian Rural Leadership 
Foundation, the National Disability Insurance 
Agency, the Australian Health Care Reform Alliance, 
the Social Determinants of Health Alliance and the 
International Foundation for Integrated Care.

As part of Anti-Poverty Week 2014, the Alliance 
partnered with Barkly Regional Arts to present 
a webcast/virtual tour of Barkly Regional Arts, 
showcasing how arts can be used to reduce the effects 
of mental illness and poverty in a quite remote area. 
The webcast featured discussions with members of 
the Winanjjikari Music Centre, Artists of the Barkly, 
and Media Mob about how engagement with Barkly 
Regional Arts helped improve social cohesion and 
inclusion, two important determinants of mental 
health. The webcast brought national attention to the 
important role of community arts in remote and rural 
areas. Media interviews highlighted the links between 
this regional event and the Alliance’s longstanding 
interest in promoting the close relationship between 
arts and health in building health and wellbeing.

Collaboration

GOAL THREE: 
Strengthen and build collaborative 
relationships with Member Bodies and 
other key stakeholders.

Performance towards this goal is measured 
by reference to the number and impact of 
collaborative activities and the perceptions 
of such activities by those involved.

A strong collaborative approach is the foundation of 
the Alliance’s knowledge building and advocacy work. 
It collaborates with stakeholders - including public, 
private and non-government agencies - in a variety of 
ways, including through a range of meetings and events.

One such event was the 4th Rural and Remote Health 
Scientific Symposium held in Canberra in September 
2014. It was run jointly with the Australian Primary 
Health Care Research Institute (APHCRI), Primary 
Health Care Research & Information Service 
(PCHRIS), and the Australian Rural Health 
Education Network (ARHEN).

The Symposium brought together rural and remote 
health service providers, consumers, researchers 
and staff of national data agencies including the 
Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), 
the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), Medicare, 
the Department of Social Services, the Australian 
Health Practitioner Regulation Agency and the 
National Health Performance Authority. These 
agencies contribute a great deal to data collection and 
analysis that informs decisions about health policies 
and programs.

Representatives of these organisations talked about 
their roles and use of national data, including the new 
National Health Survey biomarkers. The Symposium 
provided a positive example of how data agencies, 
researchers and policy makers are all keen to play their 
part in improving the health of people in rural and 
remote areas. There is plenty of data available, and 
its application to the task can be further improved 
through closer relationships between the parties. 
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Another aspect of the Alliance’s collaboration 
with stakeholders is engagement with sponsors 
and exhibitors for the biennial Conference. The 
financial support they provide is an important part 
of its business model, which is premised on making 
a small surplus while encouraging attendance by 
setting a relatively low registration fee. The sponsors 
and exhibitors report that engagement with the 
Conference improves their understanding of rural 
and remote health challenges and their ability to 
collaborate in the search for answers.

The 13th National Rural Health Conference 
included a number of pre-conference events held 
in collaboration with some of our partners. There 
was a workshop run by the Australian Healthcare 
and Hospitals Association and the National Health 
Performance Authority on performance measures 
for the PHNs. We also provided administrative and 
organisational support to Indigenous Allied Health 
Australia (IAHA), Australian Indigenous Doctors 
Association (AIDA) and National Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Health Workers Association 
(NATSIHWA) for their pre-conference workshop 
on an action-based approach to cultural safety. This 
aimed to improve the capacity for rural and remote 
health professionals to provide culturally safe and 
responsive care to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people – an issue which has been identified by 
our Indigenous member bodies as a key priority.

Another pre-conference event was the opportunity 
for delegates to participate in a full-day bus tour to 
Nauiyu Nambiyu (Daly River) Community. The 
tour, which was highly valued by participants, was 
organised with the assistance of local Primary Health 
Care Manager and Friend of the Alliance, Janet 
Fletcher, and Gary Higgins MP, Member for Daly 
and a Minister in the Government of the Northern 
Territory. Tour participants met with members of 
the Nauiyu community, including local Elders, staff 
from the local health centre and artists working with 
Merrepen Arts.

There was also a pre-conference workshop on the 
National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) in rural 
and remote areas; and a multi-disciplinary workshop 
run by the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia on 
‘Medicines in the bush’.

Through the year the Alliance shared and exchanged 
views with bodies such as Health Workforce Australia, 
the Independent Hospitals Pricing Authority, the 
National Mental Health Commission, Mental Health 
Australia, Pain Australia, Palliative Care Australia 
and Arthritis Australia. There were also meetings 
with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 
Primary Health Care Research & Information Service, 
Indigenous Health Infonet, Rural Industries Research 
and Development Corporation, The George Institute, 
National Health Performance Authority, Children’s 
Healthcare Australasia, Telstra Health, Sonoa Health, 
the Heart Foundation and the Australian Primary 
Health Care Research Institute.

Friends of the Alliance is a network of organisations and 
individuals who support the work of the Alliance and 
provide important additional grassroots connections 
for its work. At 30 June 2015, Friends had 476 
financial members, three-quarters of them being 
individuals, 18 per cent small organisations and 7 per 
cent large organisations. 

Much of the Alliance’s work is directly or indirectly 
related to the health challenges facing Indigenous 
communities and peoples across Australia. In 
these matters we look to our Indigenous member 
bodies for leadership and guidance. They are the 
National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health 
Organisation (NACCHO); Australian Indigenous 
Doctors Association (AIDA); and Indigenous 
Allied Health Australia (IAHA). The arrangements 
in place for shared work and understanding are 
regularly monitored.

In December 2014 we participated in the inaugural 
Collaborative Policy Partners forum led by 
NACCHO, an initiative aimed at encouraging 
organisations to work together to strengthen health 
outcomes for Aboriginal people. Policy partners 
include the NRHA, ACOSS, the AMA, Pharmacy 
Guild, RACGP, and the Public Health Association of 
Australia. A second forum was held in March 2015.

One of the top priority recommendations endorsed at 
CouncilFest in September 2014 was a commitment 
to advocate for the operationalisation of the National 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 
2013-2023, ensuring that adequate resources, 
bipartisan political commitment and consultation 
are committed to it. To help with this, and at the 
suggestion of our three Indigenous member bodies, 
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the Alliance continues to seek engagement with the 
National Health Leadership Forum on which eleven 
peak Indigenous health bodies are represented – 
including the three that are members of the Alliance.

Prior to the release of the 2015 Federal Budget, 
the Alliance convened a special strategic policy 
development meeting with senior representatives from 
our Indigenous member bodies and from the Congress 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nurses and 
Midwives (CATSINaM) and the National Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Allied Health Workers 
Association (NATSIHWA). The meeting agreed 
priorities for ongoing collaborative advocacy and 
policy development efforts.

With support from the National Disability Insurance 
Agency (NDIA) and the Department of Social 
Services, the NRHA has rapidly developed its 
capacity to disseminate information and seek advice 
from relevant people where disability services in rural 
areas are concerned. A public information forum was 
held at the Mount Isa Centre for Rural and Remote 
Health, with some 50 local, regional and national 
participants meeting to work through some of the 
challenges expected to be encountered in the rollout 
of the Scheme in rural and remote areas.

In June 2015 the NRHA was engaged by the NDIA 
as a ‘Critical Friend’ in its work to develop the NDIS 
Rural and Remote Servicing Strategy. This has 
involved a number of meetings by teleconference and 
the provision of editorial assistance. As a member 
of the Rural and Remote and Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Reference Group, the NRHA has also 
been involved in preparation of the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Engagement Plan for the NDIS.

This work on disability care has included valuable 
contact with the National Disability and Carer 
Alliance, Carers Australia, the Australian Federation 
of Disability Organisations and National Disability 
Services - as well as the NDIA.

Secretariat 

GOAL FOUR: 
Maintain a dynamic, sustainable and 
resilient organisation with the capacity 
to achieve its vision.

Performance towards this goal is measured 
by reference to best practice standards of 
governance and other procedural matters, 
and by reference to the financial and other 
resources available to its Secretariat.

The capacity of the Alliance to serve the interests of 
the rural and remote health sector and to continue 
to provide the Government with useful, up-to-date 
information is underpinned by its financial support 
and the roles played by its Council, Board and staff. 

Council provides all of the Alliance’s Member Bodies 
with the opportunity to engage on an equal footing 
in selecting the issues on which its information and 
policy work focuses, developing the organisation’s 
views, formulating the strategic plan, and overseeing 
the Alliance’s projects. The annual face-to-face 
meeting, which facilitates intensive policy discussion 
and opportunities for advocacy and networking, was 
held in Canberra on 19-23 September 2014. At other 
times, Council met via teleconference during alternate 
months and at an additional face-to-face meeting 
during the 13th National Rural Health Conference 
in Darwin. Agendas and papers were distributed 
to Council members a week prior to the scheduled 
meeting dates, and Minutes circulated as soon as 
possible for their approval.

The Board is responsible for governing the affairs 
and property of the Alliance and for monitoring the 
direction and sustainability of the Alliance as an 
organisation. During the year a total of nine Board 
meetings were held. Five were face-to-face meetings, 
including two in Canberra in conjunction with 
CouncilFest, one in Darwin immediately following the 
close of the 13th National Rural Health Conference, 
plus two full day meetings in Adelaide in July 2014 and 
Canberra in June 2015, specifically to progress a range 
of strategic governance and risk-management issues.
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The Finance and Audit Advisory Committee 
(a subcommittee of the Board) met with secretariat 
staff each month to review financial reports and 
support the Treasurer in preparing financial reports 
to the Board. The Treasurer also provided a general 
financial update at each Council meeting. The 
financial statements for 2014–2015 received an 
unqualified audit report and were accepted at the 
Annual General Meeting on 23 September, 2014. 

All incoming Board members received a copy of the 
Board Policy Manual, and are offered appropriate 
governance training opportunities. A review of the 
Alliance’s Risk Management Plan is conducted every 
six months and recommended revisions considered 
by the Board at meetings scheduled closest to that 
time. Reports against the Risk Management Plan were 
presented to the Board at the July 2014, February 
and June 2015 meetings, and amendments agreed. 
In addition, the Board agreed at the June 2015 face-
to-face meeting to include a Risk Register report as a 
standard agenda item for all Board meetings in future, 
to ensure closer monitoring and management of a 
range of risk scenarios as they arise.

The Yearbook and Annual Report for 2013-2014 
was printed and published online prior to the 
Annual General Meeting.

Staff numbers and roles continue to change as 
necessary and practicable - the main constraint being 
the personnel budget. At 30 June 2015, the Alliance 
had 19 members of staff, 11 full-time and 8 part-time. 
Staff are led by the Chief Executive Officer who has 
principal responsibility for managing the operations 
of the Alliance. Staff employment is covered by a 
Workplace Agreement outlining the agreed terms and 
conditions. Generally, agreements are for the term 
of the Alliance’s current funding agreement with the 
Department of Health. Position descriptions for all 
staff were reviewed during the reporting period for 
consistency and clarity.

Policy staff support the Board and Council by 
preparing briefing and discussion papers to inform and 
progress policy development. Alliance positions are 
developed iteratively via email involving all Council 
members, usually leading to agreement of all Member 
Bodies, subject to the caveat that applies.1 

1  “This [document] reflects the agreed views of the National 
Rural Health Alliance, but not necessarily the full or 
particular views of all of its 37 individual Member Bodies.”

The secretariat provides a comprehensive consolidated 
report on its current work to each Council 
teleconference for information and to stimulate policy 
discussion. A specially-prepared monthly summary 
assists Council members to keep their Member Bodies 
up-to-date with Alliance publications, submissions, 
meetings and other activities.

As outlined in preceding sections, the outputs of 
the Alliance’s knowledge building, advocacy and 
collaborative work are published on the website 
and distributed electronically to subscriber lists. 
The Alliance publishes position papers and makes 
submissions which represent the organisation’s agreed 
positions. It produces and circulates discussion papers 
to stimulate discussion and debate on topics on which 
it does not as yet have an agreed position.

Where possible the Alliance responds to requests for 
direct representation from external organisations and 
activities that advance the core business of promoting 
good health and wellbeing for rural and remote 
Australians. These requests place increasing demands 
on its representational time, communications and 
information dissemination, event management and 
policy capacity. This situation is being closely monitored, 
including through risk management processes.

The Alliance is fully committed to ensuring the NRHA 
office is a safe, fair and rewarding place to work. Staffing 
policies at the Alliance continue to reflect best practice 
in terms of workplace gender equity and in terms of 
desirable flexibility for staff, and workplace policies 
are reviewed and updated regularly to reflect changes 
in Commonwealth legislation and workplace realities. 
Professional development opportunities are available to 
staff as appropriate and within budget limits.

Operating systems, protocols and arrangements for 
the secretariat, Board and Council are systematically 
updated, to ensure that the Alliance maintains its 
effective and productive operations. Member Body, 
Council and Board records are updated each time 
there is a change to record the admission of new 
Member or a new delegate to Council, and following 
Board elections at the AGM. Orientation material for 
Council members is updated regularly. 

The Alliance continues to participate in the ActSmart 
Business Recycling program. We are a fully-accredited 
recycler and have been awarded a certificate, trophy and 
collateral to acknowledge our progress.

Details of Council Members, the Board and staff as at 
30 June 2015 are included as an Appendix.



PROGRAMS 
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24

13th National Rural Health Conference 
People, Places, Possibilities

Darwin, 24-27 May 2015

Details of the 13th Conference have been described 
above. Nicole O’Reilly, NRHA Treasurer, played 
a major role in its organisation in her capacities as 
Conference Convenor and Chair of the Conference 
Advisory Committee (CAC). Our thanks to Nicole 
and the other members of the CAC:

Robyn Aitken - Department of Health, NT

Helen Bowden - Pharmacy Guild of Australia, Darwin

Rob Currie - Australian Physiotherapy Association

Janet Fletcher - Remote Area Nurse, Katherine

Sean Heffernan - CEO, Katherine West Health Board

Hugh Heggie - Department of Health, NT

Felix Ho - National Rural Health Students’ Network 
(NRHSN)

Charlie King - Conference MC

Anna Morse - Brien Holden Vision Institute

Richard Sager - Darwin Dieticians

Kieren Sanderson - Arts and Health Producer

Beverley Scott-Visser - Aboriginal Medical Services 
Alliance Northern Territory

Kylie Stothers - Indigenous Allied Health Australia

Lynne Strathie - Councillor, National Rural Health 
Alliance

Meredeth Taylor - Australian Government 
Department of Health

John Wakerman - Flinders University, NT

Diane Walsh - Northern Territory Medicare Local

Robyn Williams - Charles Darwin University

One of the highlights of the 13th Conference was 
the arts and health program showcasing Darwin’s 
multicultural arts community managed by Kieren 
Sanderson. More information about it is at 
ruralhealth.org.au/13nrhc/program/arts-and-health

Because of the Conference’s location in Darwin, for 
the first time it included a significant focus on the 
international region to Australia’s North with special 
guests from Papua New Guinea, Vanuatu, Timor Leste, 
Tuvalu and Palau. Topics included infectious diseases 
in the region; under- and over-nutrition; and frontline 
primary care. A full list of international speakers can 
be found at ruralhealth.org.au/13nrhc/program/
international-session-speakers 

We had great support for the international stream 
from Peter Macdonald, Mike Toole and Lachlan 
McIver.

The Alliance was pleased to welcome the NT 
Government and the Royal Flying Doctor Service as 
major sponsors of the Conference. 

The proceedings of the 13th Conference can be 
found on the Conference website at ruralhealth.org.
au/13nrhc. They include on-demand videos of all 
keynote speakers as well as of a number of concurrent 
speakers. There is also a full written paper from many 
of the presentations.

PHOTO: GLENN CAMPBELL

PHOTO: GLENN CAMPBELL
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Australian Journal 
of Rural Health

The Australian Journal of Rural Health (AJRH) 
maintains its role as the preeminent research forum for 
rural and remote health. Its circulation figures indicate 
continuing widespread usage, with over 158,000 full 
text downloads in 2014. Australian users made up 72% 
of these, with the bulk of international users located 
in USA, the United Kingdom and Canada. The 
impact factor for the Journal for 2014 was 1.225.

There were a number of changes to the editorial team 
which is led by the AJRH’s Editor, Professor David 
Perkins, Centre for Rural and Remote Mental Health, 
the University of Newcastle based in Orange, NSW. 
We acknowledge with great thanks Professors David 
Lyle and Jane Mills who stepped down from their 
positions as Deputy Editors. During the year, Professor 
Kate Senior joined the editorial team. The continuing 
support of Deputy Editors John Humphreys, Jeff 
Fuller, Chris Roberts and Andrew Bonney is greatly 
appreciated. The Alliance acknowledges with 
gratitude the generous commitment of time and 
energy by all members of the editorial team to ensure 
the success of the Journal. 

The sudden death of Professor Erica Bell in July 2014 
was a great loss of talent and energetic support for the 
whole sector, including the Journal.

The Journal continued to be published 
under an agreement with Wiley 
Publishing Asia. The Alliance values 
this connection, not least for the 
on-going trouble free production 
and distribution which it delivers. 
In addition, Wiley’s advice and 
support has ensured that AJRH has 
kept pace with the rapidly changing 
developments affecting the global 
publishing world.

The Alliance acknowledges the support of 
CRANAplus which maintained its status as a 
Journal Associate.

The 
Australian Journal of Rural Health
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Friends of the Alliance 

Friends of the Alliance remains a strong and important 
group providing grassroots connections for the 
Alliance, validation of our policy work, and extending 
the reach of our health promotion and advocacy work. 

The membership period from 2013-14 was extended 
to 30 June 2015 to align with the financial year. At 
end June 2015 Friends membership totalled 476 
individuals and organisations. 

Ten percent of the Conference delegates at the 13th 
National Rural Health Conference were members 
of Friends of the Alliance. The Friends Advisory 
Committee held a breakfast in Darwin to conclude 
their term on the committee. The Photo and Poetry 
Competitions were held again in conjunction with the 
Conference. Entries in both competitions captured 
some of the magic of life in remote and rural areas and 
reminded us of the creativity, resilience and common 
sense of the people of rural and remote areas. 

Friends at the Conference contributed generously to 
the hamper, won by Beth Rogers, Acting Director of 
Population Health with WA Country Health Service, 
based in Karratha.

The Friends Advisory Committee (FAC) met 
throughout the year by teleconference, usually in the 
days after each Council meeting. Some of its members 
also served on the Conference Advisory Committee.

Friends of the Alliance Advisory 
Committee 2013 -2014

State/Territory
Friends Advisory 
Committee 
Representative

ACT Camilla Rowland 
Russell McGowan

NSW Robin Toohey 
Kris Battye

NT Janet Fletcher  
Robyn Williams

QLD Chris Franklin 
Alison Fairleigh

SA Pauline Glover, Chairperson 
Pam Pratt

TAS Ruth Chalk 
Robynne Rankin

VIC John Smith 
Lisa Bourke

WA Irene Mills 
Trish Thomson  
Andrew Waters

Council Members Lynne Strathie  
Greg Mundy

Alliance staff Gordon Gregory (CEO) 
Kellie Sydlarczuk (Friends 
Manager)

Information Technology

The Alliance is now using a new cloud-based Events 
management/Customer Relationship Management 
System. The system is being used to run our major 
events and meetings, including the Caring for Country 
Kids Conference. It is expected that the Alliance’s 
main contacts will be migrated early next year. This 
will allow us to further reduce licensing costs and our 
reliance on local hardware.

In preparation for the 13th National Rural Health 
Conference we developed a special platform in 
order to run the Sharing Shed as the basis for the 
recommendations process. The successful groundwork 
laid will allow us to set up similar systems for future 
conferences or events.
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The Alliance continued to administer the Rural 
Australia Medical Undergraduate Scholarship 
(RAMUS) Scheme under a funding agreement with 
the Australian Government Department of Health. 

The number of scholarship places supported by the 
RAMUS Scheme has remained at 587 for 2013, 2014 
and 2015. 

In the 2015 application round, 631 eligible applications 
were received and 185 scholarships were awarded. 

At the end of 2014, 174 scholars graduated from 
university and completed their scholarship. More than 
1,700 RAMUS scholarship holders have graduated 
since the Scheme started in 2000. 

An evaluation survey of RAMUS scholars was 
conducted in late 2014 and a report submitted to 
the Department in April 2015. The results of the 
survey were in line with those of previous surveys 
and show that for most scholars, participation in 
the RAMUS Scheme has increased their intention 
and commitment to practise medicine in rural or 
remote Australia. 

Rural Doctor Mentor Program

All RAMUS scholars must have a rural doctor as a 
mentor. There were 571 current mentors at the end 
of 2014-15. Some mentors support more than one 
scholar and some new scholars in 2015 were yet to 
organise their mentor. 

Dr Rowena Sheppard and Professor Bruce Chater 
received RAMUS Mentor of the Year Awards for 2014. 
The annual mentor awards are based on nominations 
by RAMUS scholars and recognise the contribution of 
outstanding and inspirational RAMUS mentors. 

Conference Placement Program

The RAMUS Conference Placement Program 
provides grants for RAMUS scholars and former 
scholars to attend selected conferences that have a 
rural or remote context and/or will enhance clinical 
skills in rural practice. In 2014-15, 65 scholars and 
alumni (from 179 applications) attended conferences 
with the support of the Program. 

RAMUS Alumnus Program

During 2014-15 membership of the RAMUS Alumnus 
Program grew to 874 former scholars and 193 mentors. 
Over 635 scholar alumni have registered their interest 
in being a RAMUS mentor in the future and, of these, 
25 are either currently mentoring or have previously 
mentored a scholar. 

The RAMUS Alumnus program supported the 
attendance of former scholar, Dr Trent Little, at the 
TRAIL (Training Rural Australians in Leadership) 
program for emerging rural leaders presented by 
the Australian Rural Leadership Foundation in 
March 2015. 

NSW Regional  
Dentistry Scholarship

The Alliance continued to administer the NSW 
Regional Dentistry Scholarship on behalf of the 
scholarship’s sponsor, Senator John Williams, 
Nationals Senator for NSW. This is a one-year 
scholarship valued at $4800, awarded annually to 
a student from regional New South Wales who is 
commencing dentistry studies. The Alliance holds 
the scholarship funds on behalf of Senator Williams 
and pays them to the scholarship holder and also 
administers the annual application and selection 
process. The 2015 scholarship was awarded to 
Matthew McGreal from Orange NSW, who is studying 
Dentistry at Charles Sturt University.
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2
In 2014-15, the Alliance continued to manage Stream 
2 of the Rural Health Continuing Education program 
(RHCE2). In February to March 2015, the final grant 
round was open; 228 registrations were received. 
Of these, 112 eligible applications were reviewed 
and ranked by the independent Assessment Panel. 
Nineteen projects were able to be funded in this round. 

Over its five year life span, the RHCE2 program has 
funded 119 programs, resulting in useful understanding 
about ways in which the provision of continuing 
professional development (CPD) in rural and remote 
areas can be successfully delivered and structured. 
It has produced specific CPD resources for rural 
practitioners, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Health Practitioners and Workers and allied 
health professionals. Through its successful projects it 
has supported approximately 8,500 rural and remote 
health professionals including Aboriginal Health 
Practitioners/Workers, allied health professionals, 
nurses and midwives, and GPs. The program has 
assisted the provision of CPD in many different parts of 
rural and remote Australia, and has helped practitioners 
to provide more effective care and better respond to the 
diverse needs of rural and remote communities.

Independent evaluation of the program included the 
following findings:

•	 RHCE2 has helped to overcome a range of 
challenges encountered by health professionals in 
rural and remote Australia participating in CPD, 
including financial expenses of training, travelling 
to and staying near distant training facilities, and 
having someone relieve them of their work and 
family responsibilities in their absence. 

•	 The program strongly supports the professional 
development needs of those who received 
the funding. It meets it aims and objectives, 
and greatly assists in supporting health care 
professionals in rural and remote settings. It 
was also found to increase the capacity of the 
workforce to work in multi-disciplinary teams 
within their own local environment.

•	 Generally, recipients, funders and member 
organisations were extremely satisfied with the 
RHCE2 Program in meeting its goals and in their 
dealing with them. 

•	 Respondents felt that the program offered value for 
money and filled a gap in professional development 
funding streams. But they strongly felt that the 
funds available came nowhere near meeting the 
defined and perceived needs.

The RHCE2 Program is due to end in December 
2015. Thereafter the responsibility for rural CPD will 
lie with various national and jurisdictional bodies, 
including the new Primary Health Networks (PHNs). 
The Department of Health has provided the NRHA 
with support for a small number of knowledge transfer 
meetings which will be held in regional centres in the 
first half of the new financial year.

Participants’ feedback on the value 
of the RHCE2 projects:

“The group interaction and how we could 
share our clinical experience and contribute 
to a group formulated exercise management 
plan was the best part of the session.”

“The resources were excellent, well 
presented and culturally appropriate.”

 “Online training is also a cost effective 
method of education delivery with 
economies of scale: produced once and 
delivered multiple times to multiple sites 
throughout rural and regional areas. 
Health services across the region now 
have access to education, information 
and resources to assist them in developing 
their own online material, tailored to meet 
their own organisational professional 
development training needs.”



GOVERNANCE 
AND PEOPLE
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Council

The Alliance Council is comprised of one delegate 
from each Member Body of the Alliance, the 
Chairperson of Friends of the Alliance, and up to 
three co-opted individuals. Council meets face-
to-face once a year and every second month by 
teleconference.

Board

At the 23rd Annual General Meeting held on 
23 September 2014, Council elected eight members 
of the Board, including the following office bearers:

Chairperson: Tim Kelly

Deputy Chairperson: Lesley Barclay 

Secretary: Kathryn Kirkpatrick

Treasurer: Nicole O’Reilly

Following their election, the eight selected two others 
from Council to be Ordinary Members of the Board. 
The six members of the Board elected and appointed 
in this fashion were:

Members: 
Geri Malone Gordon Stacey 
Greg Mundy Lynne Strathie 
Lyndon Seys Lindy Swain

Council Members

The following were members of Council during 2014–2015. 
(†) indicates members of the Board during 2014–2015.

Phil Anderton
ROG of OAA

Optometrist, 
Manilla NSW

Lesley Barclay †
ARHEN

Director, University 
Centre for Rural Health, 

Lismore NSW

Anne Bousfield
ACM-RRAC

Midwifery Group 
Practice Nursing 

Manager,  
Roma QLD

Julianne Bryce
ANMF

Registered Nurse, 
Senior Federal 

Professional Officer, 
Melbourne VIC

Helen Conlin
CAA (RRG)

Communications 
Manager,

Melbourne VIC

Sam Crossman
AIDA

Manager Policy  
and Programs, 
Manuka ACT

Craig Dukes
Co-opted Member

Director,  
Ngunnawal Centre, 

University of Canberra, 
Canberra ACT

Mark Diamond
ACHSM

Health Management 
Consultant,  
Adelaide SA

John Dennehy
ESSA (RRIG)

Excercise 
Physiologist, 

Toowoomba QLD

Angela Frazer 
APA (RMN)

Physiotherapist,  
Orange NSW
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Lauren Gale
RFDS

National Manager of 
Health Policy, 
Canberra ACT

Joanna Gibson 
ICPA

Federal Councillor, 
Tarcoola SA

Tim Kelly †
ACRRM

CEO, Adelaide To 
Outback GP Training 
Program, Adelaide SA

Kathryn Kirkpatrick †  
NRF of the RACGP 

Rural GP, 
Dalby QLD

Martin Laverty
RFDS

National CEO,
Canberra

ACT

Tanya Lehmann
SARRAH

Principal Consultant, 
Allied Health, Country 
Health SA, Loxton SA

Jo McCubbin
APS

Pediatrician, 
Sale VIC

Judith Gullifer 
APS RRPIG

Lecturer, School of 
Psychology, 

Bathurst NSW

Karen Harvey
FS

Community Services 
Manager, 

Brisbane QLD

Felix Ho
NRHSN

Medical Student, 
Flinders NT

Geri Malone †
CRANAplus

Director of Professional 
Services, Denmark SA

Jenny May
RDAA

Rural GP and Academic, 
Tamworth NSW

Ruth McConigley 
ACN

Senior Lecturer, 
School of Nursing 

and Midwifery, Curtin 
University, Denmark WA

Noela MacLeod
CWAA

National President, 
Keilor East VIC

Pauline Glover
Friends of the 

Alliance
Chair, 

Dover Gardens SA

Lisa McInerney
RIHG of the CAA

Chiropractor, 
Wangaratta VIC

Trish McKenzie
Co-opted

Grazier,
Cunnamulla QLD

Greg Mundy †
RHWA

CEO, VIC

David Molhoek 
NRHSN

Senior representative, 
National Rural Health  

Students’ Network

Amanda O’Keefe 
SPA

Speech Pathologist, 
TIWI NT



32

Council Members (cont)

(†) indicates members of the Board during 2014–2015.

Brenda Tait
AGPN

Executive Advisor to the 
Board, RHealth Limited, 

Toowoomba QLD

Todd Teakle 
ESSA (NRRC)

Exercise Physiologist, 
Geraldton WA

Kylie Stothers 
IAHA

Lecturer, Centre for 
Remote Health,  

Flinders University 
Katherine NT

Gordon Stacey †
Co-opted

Health Management 
Consultant, 

North Perth WA

Lynne Strathie †
Co-opted

Carer and Consumer 
Advocate, 
Darwin NT

Lindy Swain †
PSA (RSIG)

Pharmacist/Lecturer, 
Sydney University 

Centre for Rural Health, 
Lismore NSW

Judi Walker 
FRAME

Head, School of 
Rural Health, Monash 
University, Clayton VIC

Trish Thomson
FS

Regional Manager WA, 
Frontier Services

Perth WA

Christine Tully
RIHG of CAA
Chiropractor,  

Bowenville QLD

David Waters 
CAA (RRG)

General Manager, 
Melbourne VIC

Matthew Simpson
PA (RRSIG)

Paramedic Specialist, 
Intensive and Extended 

Care,
Leeton NSW

Niall Small 
ACEM-RRC

Chair, 
West Melbourne VIC

Nicole O’Reilly † 
AHPARR

Occupational Therapist, 
Territory Health, Darwin 

NT

Simon Sheed 
RDN of the ADA

Dentist, 
Maryborough VIC

John Richardson 
PA (RRSIG)
Paramedic, 

Ulverstone TAS

Moya Sandow
HCRRA

Rural health consumer, 
Gayndah QLD

Lyndon Seys †
AHHA

CEO, Alpine Health, 
Myrtleford VIC

Joseph O’Malley 
RPA

Pharmacist, 
Ulverstone TAS
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Gordon Gregory
Chief Executive Officer

Peter Brown
AJRH Manager and 

Project Officer

Anne-marie Boxall
Senior Policy Adviser, 
from November 2014

Geri Badham
Policy Adviser, 

until August 2014

Staff

The following were members of staff during 2014–2015.

Alejandra Cares 
Henriquez

Graphic Designer,
from November 2014 

to February 2015

Audrey Clarke
Office Manager, 

until October 2014

Leanne Coleman
Conference Manager

Annie Cummins
Casual Administration 

Assistant, 
January 2015

Millie Clery
Graphic Designer

Wendy Downs
RHCE2 Manager

Linda Fox
Executive Assisant, 
from March 2015  

to April 2015

Josie Dunham
Conference Coordinator, 

from August 2014

Jennifer Freeman
Graphic Designer, 

from February 2015

Damien Hickman
Communications 

Coordinator,  
from October 2014

Helen Hopkins
Policy Adviser, 

until February 2015

Lesley Jandric
RAMUS Project 

Manager
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Alice Sisley
Events Liaison Officer, 
until November 2014

Janine Snowie
RAMUS Assistant 

Project Officer and 
Staff Chairperson

Sue Pagura
Finance Manager

Catherine Neilson
Governance and 
Liaison Officer

Kellie Sydlarczuk
Conference 

Coordinator and 
Friends Manager

Consultants

The following were consultants during 2014–2015. 

•	 Jim Groves, eforum

•	 Debbie Phillips, Conference

•	 Andrew Phillips, Policy

•	 Belinda Tromp, Media

Michael Wearne
IT Manager

Staff (cont)

Susan Magnay
Partyline Editor

Stephen Kingston
Graphic Designer, 

from February 2015

Dane Morling
Policy Officer

Madeleine Mason
RAMUS Project Officer
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Member Body
Delegate Period on Council Eligible Attended

ACEM-RRC Niall Small 
Andrew Gosbell 
Russell Young

Full year 
(proxy) 
(proxy)

8 
n/a 
n/a

0 
1 
1

ACHSM Gordon Stacey 
Mark Diamond

to April 2015 
from April 2015

6 
2

4 
2

ACM-RRAC Anne Bousfield Full year 8 6

ACN Ruth McConigley Full year 8 5

ACRRM Tim Kelly Full year 8 7

AGPN Brenda Tait Full year 8 0

AHHA Lyndon Seys Full year 8 5

AHPARR Nicole O’Reilly Full year 8 7

AIDA Sam Crossman Full year 8 6

ANMF Julianne Bryce Full year 8 7

APA (RMN) Angela Frazer 
Kate Vance

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

4 
2

APS Jo McCubbin Full year 8 8

APS (RRPIG) Judith Gullifer Full year 8 6

ARHEN Lesley Barclay Full year 8 5

Lisa Bourke (proxy) n/a 1

CAA (RRG) David Waters  
Helen Conlin 
Helen Conlin

to Dec 2014 
(proxy) 
from Dec 2014

5 
n/a

0 
3

CRANAPLUS Geri Malone Full year 8 6

CWAA Noela MacLeod Full year 8 4

ESSA (RRIG) Todd Teakle 
John Dennehy 
John Dennehy

to Dec 2014 
(proxy) 
from Dec 2014

5 
n/a 
3

0 
2 
3

FRAME Judi Walker Full year 8 2

FS Without a delegate 
Trish Thomson 
Karen Harvey

(5 meetings) 
Sept 2014 – Jan 2015 
Jan 2015 – May 2015

5 
2 
1

0 
0 
0

HCRRA Moya Sandow Full year 8 3

IAHA Kylie Stothers 
Anna Leditschke

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

2 
1

Council meeting attendance 2014–2015
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Council meeting attendance 2014–2015

Member Body
Delegate Period on Council Eligible Attended

ICPA Joanna Gibson 
Trish McKenzie

to Aug 2014 
from Aug 2014

1 
7

1 
5

NACCHO Without a delegate 
Roy Monaghan

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

0 
1

NRF of RACGP Kathryn Kirkpatrick Full year 8 8

NRHSN David Molhoek 
Felix Ho 
Felix Ho

to Dec 2014 
(proxy) 
from Dec 2014

5 
n/a 
3

1 
2 
2

PA (RRSIG) John Richardson 
Matthew Simpson

to Dec 2014 
from Dec 2014

5 
3

5 
2

PSA (RSIG) Lindy Swain 
Catherine Bergin

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

4 
2

RDAA Jenny May Full year 8 3

RDN of ADA Simon Sheed 
Bruce Simmons

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

1 
1

RFDS Lauren Gale 
Martin Laverty 
Lauren Gale

to Sept 2014 
from Sept 2014 
(proxy)

1 
7 

n/a

0 
4 
2

RHWA Greg Mundy 
Jo-Anne Chapman

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

5 
1

RIHG of CAA Lisa McInerney 
Christine Tully 
Christine Tully

to Sept 2014 
(proxy) 
from Sept 2014

1 
n/a 
7

0 
1 
2

ROG of OA Phil Anderton Full year 8 6

RPA Joe O’Malley Full year 8 6

SARRAH Tanya Lehmann 
Hazel Harries-Jones

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

4 
2

SPA-RRMC
Amanda O’Keefe 
Franceska Edis

Full year 
(proxy)

8 
n/a

4 
1

Friends of the Alliance Pauline Glover 
Russell McGowan 
Andrew Waters

Full year 
(proxy) 
(proxy)

8 
n/a 
n/a

5 
1 
1

Co-Opted Member Lynne Strathie 
Craig Dukes 
Trish McKenzie 
Gordon Stacey

Full year 
Full year 
to Aug 2014 
from April 2015

8 
8 
1 
2

7 
0 
1 
1
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Board meeting attendance 2014–2015

Name Position Eligible Attended

Phil Anderton Ordinary member to 23 September 2014 2 2

Lesley Barclay Deputy Chair 9 7

Tim Kelly Chair 9 9

Kathryn Kirkpatrick Secretary from 23 September 2014 7 7

Geri Malone Ordinary Member 9 8

Lisa McInerney Secretary to 9 September 2014 1 0

Greg Mundy Ordinary Member 8 7

Nicole O’Reilly Treasurer 9 8

Lyndon Seys Ordinary Member 9 8

Gordon Stacey Ordinary Member 9 9

Lynne Strathie Ordinary Member 9 9

Lindy Swain Ordinary Member from 23 September 2014 6 5

Submissions to government inquiries 2014–2015

Submission to the examination of children affected by 
family and domestic violence

In brief: details the prevalence of domestic and 
family violence and highlights its correlation with 
socioeconomic disadvantage. The factors that 
influence rates of offending in rural and remote 
areas are also noted and recommendations are 
made to help address the issue of domestic and 
family violence.

Submission in response to White Paper - A better tax 
system (March 2015)

In brief: major policy levers, such as taxation, 
should be used improve quality of life, business 
prospects and access to services in rural and remote 
areas. The tax system does much to determine 
health status and therefore provides an opportunity 
to contribute to equalising health status and access 
to services.

Submission to NDIS Quality and Safeguarding 
Framework

In brief: focused on: (1) registering providers 
under the NDIS; (2) implementing a system for 
complaints handling; and (3) ensuring staff are 
safe to work with participants in rural and remote 
Australia. There are unique challenges associated 
with rolling out the NDIS in rural and remote 
areas, and they should not detract from greater 
investment, flexibility and innovative care models 
where it is needed.

Submission to the Rural and Regional Affairs and 
Transport References Committee Inquiry into aspects 
of Road Safety in Australia

In brief: made a series of recommendations 
consistent with the strategies outlined in the 
National Road Safety Strategy 2011-2012. 
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Submission re adequacy of existing residential care 
arrangements available for young people with severe 
physical, mental or intellectual disabilities in Australia

In brief: points to data indicating the lack of 
services for people with a disability in rural and 
remote areas, and argues that targeted government 
funding needs to be available to ensure equity of 
access to disability and aged care for people in rural 
and remote Australia.

Submission to the Senate Inquiry into the Extent of 
Income Inequality in Australia

In brief: income inequality has worsened for 
people in rural and remote areas over the past 
decade, and this has exacerbated access challenges 
to health, housing, education and work which 
they already face. NRHA calls for investment in 
regional development and jobs, through improved 
access to secondary education, high-speed 
broadband, renewable energy industries, and other 
means through which the economic base of rural 
regions can be strengthened.

Brief Submission in response to Consultation Paper 
on the Review of the National Registration and 
Accreditation Scheme for health professions

In brief: NRHA reiterates its long term 
commitment to the development of a flexible, 
responsive and sustainable workforce to serve 
the health needs of rural and remote Australia. 
It calls for the development of a clear, national 
approach to health workforce reform, and warns 
of the potential for changes to the National 
Registration and Accreditation Scheme to have 
unwanted negative impacts on under-served rural 
and remote communities, particularly with regard 
to accessing training, education and continuing 
professional development.

Submission to the Senate Education and Employment 
Legislation Committee Inquiry Higher Education and 
Research Reform Amendment Bill (2014)

In brief: highlights the differential impact that the 
measures proposed in the Bill are likely to have on 
students in rural and remote areas who are already 
disadvantaged in their access to higher education. 
Recommendations include maintenance of quota 
intakes at higher education institutions, income 
support, HECS reimbursement schemes and 
scholarships for rural students. The unique and 
growing contribution made by regional universities 
to a fair distribution of health professionals across 
rural and remote communities is also raised.

Submission to the Review of After-Hours 
Service Delivery 

In brief: explains the importance of involving the 
available local health workforce with access to 
additional support and training. A range of service 
models also need to be considered to suit the 
particular needs of rural and remote communities, 
and Primary Health Networks (PHNs) will need to 
retain and build on existing local knowledge in the 
transition from Medicare Locals.

Submission in response to Green Paper on 
Developing Northern Australia 

In brief: recognises the major contribution that the 
people, communities and industries of Northern 
Australia already make to national wellbeing. The 
health sector is a key industry in Northern Australia, 
with considerable potential for growth. Whatever 
the speed and destination of the development of 
Northern Australia, health services will be needed in 
order for those who live in the region to have health 
which is no worse than that of people living in the 
major cities of Australia’s southern States.

Submission to Independent Hospitals Pricing 
Authority Discussion Paper on Pricing Framework 
for Australian Public Hospital Services 2015-16

In brief: recommends a conservative approach 
to the pricing framework for block-funding. Any 
changes should be based on the evidence as it 
accumulates for the effective block-funding of 
small rural hospitals. A better understanding 
of the role of Multi-Purpose Services and the 
contribution they make to healthcare in smaller 
rural and remote communities should form a part 
of this growing evidence base.
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•	 Alcohol and Other Drugs Council of Australia

•	 Associations Forum Pty Ltd

•	 Australian Council of Social Service

•	 Australian Health Care Reform Alliance

•	 Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association

•	 Australian Indigenous Doctors’ Association

•	 Australian Institute for Primary Care

•	 Autism CRC

•	 Broadband for the Bush Alliance (B4BA)

•	 Continence Foundation Australia

•	 Croakey 

•	 Fundraising Institute of Australia

•	 Health Consumers of Rural and Remote Australia

•	 Indigenous Allied Health Australia

•	 Meetings and Events Australia 

•	 Mental Health Australia

•	 Professional Conference Organisers Association

•	 National Alliance for Action on Alcohol

•	 National Alliance for Rural and Remote Mental 
Health

•	 National Complex Needs Alliance

•	 National Oral Health Alliance

•	 National Rural Women’s Coalition

•	 Public Health Association of Australia

•	 Social Determinants of Health Alliance

Alliance membership in other organisations 2014–2015 

The Alliance maintained membership in the following organisations: 

Submission to the Independent Reviewer of the 
National Registration and Accreditation Scheme for 
health professions 

In brief: a submission during the initial fact 
finding stages of the Independent Review of the 
National Registration and Accreditation Scheme 
commissioned by Health Ministers.

Opening Statement - Inquiry into the Australian 
National Preventive Health Agency (Abolition) 
Bill 2014 and the Health Workforce Australia 
(Abolition) Bill 2014

In brief: raised the sustainability and priority 
given to work (or ‘streams of activity’) that have 
proven to be, and will remain, of vital importance 
to the people of rural and remote Australia. With 
both health workforce research and planning and 
preventive health reintegrated into the Department, 
the Alliance anticipates an even closer relationship 
between those two streams of activity.

Submission to Senate Community Affairs Legislation 
Committee Inquiry into the Health Workforce 
Australia (Abolition) Bill 2014 

In brief: highlights the particular health workforce 
pressures for people in rural and remote areas, and 
the need for the Department to continue to give 
these special priority in the continuing work to be 
undertaken.

Submission to the Senate Community Affairs 
Legislation Committee Inquiry into Preventive health 
and health promotion activity in Australia 

In brief: draws attention to the specific issues in 
remote areas where health promotion and illness 
prevention work are concerned. Rates of daily 
smoking have fallen consistently and substantially 
in Australia’s major cities, but not in rural and 
remote areas. This is an area of health promotion 
of particular interest to the Alliance.
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NATIONAL RURAL HEALTH ALLIANCE INCORPORATED

A.B.N. 68 480 848 412

SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Directors’ Report  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
The directors present this report on the National Rural 
Health Alliance Incorporated for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015.

DIRECTORS

Phil Anderton Ordinary member from  
26/11/2013 to 23/9/14

Lesley Barclay Chair to 26/11/2013,  
Deputy Chair from 26/11/2013

Tim Kelly Secretary to 26/11/2013,  
Chair from 26/11/2013

Kathryn Kirkpatrick Deputy Chair to 26/11/2013, 
Secretary from 23/9/14

Geri Malone Ordinary member from 26/11/2013

Lisa McInerney Ordinary member from 26/09/2011, 
Secretary to 9/9/14

Greg Mundy Ordinary member from 24/09/2012

Nicole O’Reilly Treasurer

Lyndon Seys Ordinary member from 26/11/2013

Gordon Stacey Ordinary member from 26/11/2013

Lynne Strathie Ordinary member from 24/09/2012

Lindy Swain Ordinary member from 23/9/14

Unless otherwise stated, directors were in office for the 
whole of the financial year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activities of the National Rural Health 
Alliance Incorporated (NRHA) during the financial 
year were information dissemination, advocacy, policy 
development, communication and administration to 
improve the health of people in rural and remote areas of 
Australia. There were no significant changes in the activities 
of the NRHA during the year. The NRHA Inc was endorsed 

by the Australian Taxation Office as a Health Promotion 
Charity and Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR) on 14 
November 2013. 

OPERATING RESULTS

The final result for the year was a profit of $545,665 (2014: 
loss $233,031).

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED

The NRHA did not pay any dividends during the financial 
year as it is precluded from doing so by its Constitution.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The NRHA’s operational funds for the financial year were 
in the form of grants from the Australian Government 
(Department of Health), project income, membership fees, 
fees for service and co-location fees. The expenditures of the 
NRHA were on its information dissemination, advocacy, 
policy development, communication and administrative 
activities, and projects, including on the staffing and 
operation of its Office in Canberra and meetings of its Board 
of Directors and its Council.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of 
the NRHA during the financial year.

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end 
of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the NRHA, the results 
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the NRHA in 
future financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The directors will continue to operate the NRHA in the 
best interests of the members.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

During the year nine meetings of directors were held. 
Attendances were as follows:

Board Member Board Meetings

Name
Number eligible 

to attend
Number 
attended

Phil Anderton 2 2

Lesley Barclay 9 7

Tim Kelly 9 9

Kathryn Kirkpatrick 7 7

Geri Malone 9 8

Lisa McInerney 1 0

Greg Mundy 8 7

Nicole O’Reilly 9 8

Lyndon Seys 9 8

Gordon Stacey 9 9

Lynne Strathie 9 9

Lindy Swain 6 5

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS

The NRHA maintains Associations Liability Insurance for 
professional indemnity for directors and members of staff. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE 
INCORPORATION

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Incorporation, or intervene 
in any proceedings to which the Incorporation is a party 
for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Incorporation for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Incorporation was not a party to any such proceedings 
during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors.

Tim Kelly Nicole O’Reilly 
Chair Treasurer 
11 September 2015 11 September 2015

Directors’ Declaration  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
The directors have determined that the NRHA is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report should 
be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the financial report 

1. presents a true and fair view of the balance sheet of National Rural Health Alliance Incorporated as at 30 June 2015 and 
its statement of comprehensive income for the year ended on that date; and

2. at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the National Rural Health Alliance 
Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

The statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors and is signed for and on behalf of the Directors by: 

Tim Kelly Nicole O’Reilly 
Chair Treasurer 
11 September 2015 11 September 2015
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Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015

$

2014

$

Revenue 

Government grants 1,529,252 1,745,016

Conferences 1,252,337 -

Fees 913,277 349,594

Other operations 191,523 70,085

2 3,886,388 2,164,695

Expenditure

Conferences 1,144,439 -

Employee benefits 1,314,027 1,359,158

Project administration 187,582 160,539

Publication and Communication 268,967 256,935

Other expenses 425,709 621,094

3,340,724 2,397,726

 
Surplus / (Deficit) from ordinary activities 545,665 (233,031)

Other comprehensive income - -

Comprehensive Income Attributable to Members 545,665 (233,031)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet  
as at 30 June 2015

Note 2015

$

2014

$

CURRENT ASSETS

Short term investments 3 44,588 44,588

Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,873,410 1,252,950

Trade and other receivables 5 7,518 2,127

Other assets 6 116,142 130,528

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,041,658 1,430,193

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant & Equipment 7 75,718 68,394

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 75,718 68,394

TOTAL ASSETS 2,117,376 1,498,586

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 8 75,152 71,309

Deferred Revenue – Government grants 9 106,622 34,416

Deferred Revenue – Scholarships 10 594,477 570,677

Provisions 11 304,473 366,796

Other liabilities 12 68,297 36,958

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,149,020 1,080,156

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 11 15,401 11,141

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,401 11,141

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,164,421 1,091,297

NET ASSETS 952,955 407,290

EQUITY

Retained earnings 407,290 565,321

Reserve – Policy, Research, and Development - 75,000

Current year surplus / (Deficit) 545,665 (233,031)

TOTAL EQUITY 952,955 407,290

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash flow statement  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015

$

2014

$

Cashflows from operating activities

Receipts from members and customers 2,430,064 (3,679,492)

Payments to suppliers (3,350,370) (2,478,973)

Interest received 32,074 38,240

Grants received 1,529,252 1,745,016

Net cash from operating activities 13 641,020 (4,375,209)

Cashflows from investing activities 

Payments for property, plant and equipment (25,751) -

Proceeds on disposal of assets 5,191 -

Net cash used in investing activities (20,560) -

Cash flows from financing activities 

Repayments of borrowings and leases - -

Net cash used in financing activities - -

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 620,460 (4,375,209)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 1,297,538 5,672,747

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 3,4 1,917,998 1,297,538
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Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This financial report is a special purpose financial report 
prepared in order to satisfy the financial reporting 
requirements of the Associations Incorporation ACT and 
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012. 
The directors have determined that the NRHA is not a 
reporting entity. 

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the following Australian Accounting 
Standards:

AASB 1031: Materiality

AASB 110: Events after the Balance Sheet Date

No other Australian Accounting Standards, Australian 
Interpretations or other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board have been 
applied.

The financial report is prepared on an accruals basis and 
is based on historic costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except where specifically stated, 
current valuations of non-current assets.

The following significant accounting policies, which are 
consistent with the previous period unless otherwise stated, 
have been adopted in the preparation of this report:

a. Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at 
cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 
is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. 
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows which will be received from 
the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their 
present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Software

Software is measured on a cost basis.The carrying 
amount of software is reviewed annually by directors 
to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount 
from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed 
on the basis of the expected net cash flows which 
will be received from the assets’ employment and 

subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have 
been discounted to their present values in determining 
recoverable amounts.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the 
entity, commencing from the time the asset is held ready 
for use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life

Plant and equipment 3 – 10 years

Motor Vehicle 8 years

Software 2.5 years

b. Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the entity’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees 
to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected 
to be settled within one year have been measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is 
settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable 
later than one year have been measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made 
for those benefits. Contributions are made by the entity 
to employee superannuation funds and are charged as 
expenses when incurred.

c. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of twelve 
months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities 
on the balance sheet.

d. Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the 
delivery of goods to customers. 

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis 
taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.

Government grant income is deferred until conditions 
required by the funding agreements are met. 
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All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).

e. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of 
the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of 
financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

f. Income tax

The Association is exempt from income tax under 
Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

g. Trade Receivables

Trade debtors are to be settled within 30 days and are 
carried at amounts due. The collectability of debts is 
assessed at balance date and specific provision is made 
for any doubtful accounts.

h. Trade Payables

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, whether or 
not billed to the company. Trade accounts payable are 
normally settled within 60 days.

i. Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, the NRHA reviews the carrying 
values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets 
have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of 
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, 
is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of 
the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is 
expensed to the income statement.

j. Deferred Income

Income from special consultancies and grants is deferred 
until the associated expenditure is brought to account in 
the profit and loss.

k. Scholarship Scheme

The operating activities of the NRHA involve the 
administration of a scholarship scheme and a grants 
scheme on behalf of the Commonwealth of Australia. 
At 30 June 2015, the unexpended amount of these funds 
received was $594,477 (2013: $570,677). The NRHA 

reports the deferred revenue of the scholarship scheme 
as part of these financial statements.

I. Other Liabilities

The NSW Rural Dentistry Scholarship is a fund set up 
to pay one rural NSW student with a scholarship to 
study dentistry. NRHA holds the funds on behalf of the 
scholarship sponsor and distributes the scholarship funds 
on a regular basis to the scholar.

The profit from the Fourth Rural and Remote Health 
Scientific Symposium is being held by the Alliance 
on behalf of the Australian Primary Health Care 
Research Institute, Primary Health Care Research and 
Information Service, Australian Rural Health Education 
Network and the Alliance. These funds are held in 
trust against planning and administration of a fifth such 
Symposium to be held in 2016.

The surplus from the Dental Health Policy Forum held 
in Canberra on 14 August 2012 is being held by the 
NRHA on behalf of the National Oral Health Alliance.  
These funds are held in trust against planning and 
administration for future oral health activity.

m. Economic Dependence

The NRHA is reliant on the support of the Australian 
Government (Department of Health) to provide grant 
funding for its core operational activities. The current 
funding agreement expires at 30 June 2016. 

The NRHA is also reliant on grant funding from the 
Australian Government (Department of Health) for 
the work it does on RAMUS. The current funding 
agreement for national management of RAMUS expires 
at 31 December 2015.

The NRHA is also reliant on grant funding from the 
Australian Government (Department of Health) for the 
work it does on the Rural Health Continuing Education 
Program Stream 2 (RHCE2). The current funding 
agreement for national management of RHCE2 expires 
at 15 January 2016.

n. New standards and interpretations issued but not yet 
effective

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods. The 
company has decided against early adoption of these 
Standards. The following table summarises those future 
requirements, and their impact on the company:

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd) Reference Title Summary Application date 
(financial years 
beginning)

Expected Impact

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Clarification 
of Acceptable Methods 
of Depreciation and 
Amortisation

This Standard amends AASB 116 and 
AASB 138 to establish the principle for the 
basis of depreciation and amortisation as 
being the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits of an asset, 
and to clarify that revenue is generally 
presumed to be an inappropriate basis for 
that purpose.

1 January 2016 Minimal impact 
expected

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

This Standard establishes principles 
(including disclosure requirements) for 
reporting useful information about the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows arising from an 
entity’s contracts with customers.

1 January 2017 Minimal impact 
expected

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 15

Consequential amendments arising from the 
issuance of AASB 15.

1 January 2017 Minimal impact 
expected

2015 2014

$ $

NOTE 2: Revenue for Ordinary Activities

Government Grants 1,529,252 1,745,016

Conferences 1,252,337 -

Fees 913,277 349,594

Other Operations 148,948 21,845

Sponsorship 10,500 10,000

Interest received 32,074 38,240

3,886,388 2,164,695

NOTE 3: Short term investments

Bank guarantee TD1* 24,588 24,588

Westpac Security Deposit TD2** 20,000 20,000

44,588 44,588

* Bank guarantee of $24,588 is used as security for rent in accordance with the lease agreement 
** The security deposit amount of $20,000 is used as security for the Visa credit card



50

2015 2014

$ $

NOTE 4: Cash and cash equivalents

Business Cash Reserve 845,137 660,785

Community Solutions Cheque 6,917 21,489

RAMUS Scholarship CMA 197,215 229,036

RAMUS Mentor CMA 141,993 140,696

RAMUS Scholarship Cheque 545 1,138

Term Deposit – IMB - 41291 - AL Provision 135,198 -

Term Deposit – IMB – 41290 - LSL Provision 191,682 -

IMB Term Deposit - 41292 100,000 -

RAMUS Mentor Cheque 334 360

RAMUS Conference Placement Program Cheque 899 1,734

RAMUS Conference Placement Program CMA 30,676 9,097

RHCE Everyday Account 34,070 3,405

RHCE On Line Account 188,744 185,210

1,873,410 1,252,950

NOTE 5: Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 1,357 1,581

Accrued Income 6,161 546

7,518 2,127

NOTE 6: Other assets

Prepayments – Insurance 9,333 9,615

Prepayments – Expenses 30,746 13,042

Deposits Paid - 65,752

GST Receivable 58,053 39,364

Other Deposits 18,010 2,755

116,142 130,528

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)

2015 2014

$ $

NOTE 7: Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant & Equipment 251,212 251,212

Less accumulated depreciation (202,317) (192,878)

48,895 58,334

Motor Vehicle 27,990 26,977

Less accumulated depreciation (1,167) (16,917)

26,823 10,060

Software 10,326 10,326

Less accumulated amortisation (10,326) (10,326)

- -

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 75,718 68,394

NOTE 8: Payables

Trade Creditors 15,079  14,268

Accrued Expenses 5,471  12,527

Accrued Audit Fee 23,650  18,590 

PAYG (W) 26,923  25,924 

FBT Payable 2,452  -

Paid Parental Leave 1,577  -

75,152  71,309

NOTE 9: Deferred Revenue – Unspent Grants

RAMUS Administration 106,622 34,416

106,622 34,416
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2015 2014

$ $

NOTE 10: Deferred Revenue - Scholarships

Scholarship funds payable 197,761 230,175

Mentor funds payable 31,575 10,831

Conference Placement Program funds payable 142,327 141,056

RHCE funds payable 222,814 188,615

594,477 570,677

NOTE 11: Provisions

Annual Leave 146,022 135,198

Long Service Leave 173,852 191,682

Maternity Leave - 51,057

319,874 377,937

(a) Analysis of Total Provisions

Current 304,473 366,796

Non-Current 15,401 11,141

319,874 377,937

NOTE 12: Other Liabilities

NSW Rural Dentistry Scholarship 880 880

Rural & Remote Science Symposium 13,463 19,427

Oral Health Funds 2,829 2,829

Payments Received in Advance 1,125 12,150

AHCRA Summit - 1,650

Food Equity 50,000 -

HCRRA - 22

68,297 36,958

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (contd)

2015 2014

$ $

NOTE 13: Cash Flow Reconciliation

Net profit 545,665 (233,031)

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation 13,235 29,751

Gains losses

Changes in assets/liabilities 

(Increase)/Decrease in net receivables 8,995 (50,351)

(Increase)/Decrease in net payables 35,182 (135,179)

(Increase)/Decrease in income in advance 96,006 (4,025,084)

(Increase)/Decrease in employee benefits (58,063) 38,685

641,020 (4,375,209)
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Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Report



…good health and wellbeing in rural and remote Australia.

CONTACT US

OFFICE:
10 Campion Street 
DEAKIN ACT 2600 
Phone: 02 6285 4660 
Fax: 02 6285 4670 
Email: nrha@ruralhealth.org.au

MAIL:
PO Box 280 
Deakin West ACT 2600

WEBSITE:
ruralhealth.org.au

FOLLOW:
NRHAlliance


